THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 91,614

RICHARD EARL SHERE, JR.

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR HERNANDO COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES H. WALSH Florida Bar No. 084430 Assistant CCR 405 North Reo Street Suite 150 Tampa, FL 33609-1004 (813) 871-7900

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 14, 1989, the Appellant was charged with one count of first degree murder in the death of Drew Paul Snyder. (R. 1006) He pled not guilty. He was tried by a jury and was convicted of said offense on April 26, 1989. On that same day, his penalty phase began and ended, with the jury returning a seven (7) to five (5) verdict of death (R-1342). On May 17, 1989, the court sentence the Appellant to death.

On direct appeal, the Florida Supreme Court (FSC) affirmed the conviction and sentence. <u>Shere v. State</u>, 579 So. 2d 86, (Fla. 1991). The FSC struck the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravating circumstance but ruled it harmless error. It also held, as harmless error, the trial court's calling of Heidi Greulich as a court's witness.

The Appellant filed a Motion for Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 relief, asserting twenty-three (23) claims. The majority of the claims addressed ineffective counsel, improper jury instructions, failure of State agencies to produce records under Chapter 119 Fla. Stat., and denial of rights under Amendments to the United States and Florida Constitutions.

Claim III was summarily denied, except for those parts that overlapped Claims IV, VI, and XV. After an Evidentiary Hearing that ran for three (3) days, the EH Court denied these claims as well, on their merits (EHO 29, ROA 02669).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In the early morning hours of December 25, 1987, Drew Paul Snyder, Bruce "Brewster" Demo, and the Appellant, Richard E. Shere, Jr., went rabbit hunting in the area of Ridge Manor Estates, Hernando County, Florida.

The hunt resulted in the shooting of several rabbits and in the death of Mr. Snyder, who was killed either by a shot to the forehead, a shot to the back of the head, a shot to the chest, or a shot to the thigh--any of which may have been the fatal wound. The homicide occurred between the hours of 2:00 am and 4:00 am on Christmas Day, 1987. The testimony and statements of the only two persons who actually know what happened are in opposition to each other on a number of points; but both men agree that Mr. Demo, not Mr. Shere, fired the fatal shot. At least, Mr. Demo admits to firing the fatal shot in one of his several versions of the crime. Mr. Demo, the elder of the two men, had a lengthy criminal record (see Appendix A); yet he is serving a life sentence for the crime; while Mr. Shere is on Death Row.

Mr. Shere's trial began on April 18, 1989, and concluded, in short order, with his sentencing on April 26, 1989.

The State's first witness was Karen Ann Snyder, widow of the victim, Drew Paul Snyder. She testified that she last saw her husband in the early morning hours of December 25, 1987 (R-262-263, 269). About three weeks later, she learned of her husband's death from Regina Shaffer (Mr. Demo's girlfriend) (R-267). In her testimony, Karen Snyder identified the Appellant and said that she

also knew Bruce Michael Demo (R-268).

Detective James Blade of the Hernando County Sheriff's Office (HCSO) then testified that he and Detective Alan Arick investigated the death of Drew Paul Snyder, the victim (R-300-302).

On January 13, 1988, the officers located the Appellant and interviewed him for 45 minutes. At that time, the Appellant, who was neither under arrest nor under oath, denied knowledge of the crime (R-304). At the conclusion of the interview, the Appellant was placed in the Hernando County jail, upon revocation of a bond on an unrelated matter (R-306).

Later that day, the officers located Bruce Demo, whom they interviewed. Mr. Demo gave a statement containing different versions of the crime, including one in which Mr. Shere forced Mr. Demo to fire the fatal shot. Mr. Demo was charged with the murder of Mr. Snyder and jailed (R-306-307).

Detective Blade testified that, on the following day, January 14, 1988, the officers interviewed Heidi Greulich, the teenage girlfriend of the Appellant. He also testified that Regina Shaffer was the girlfriend and cohabitant of Bruce Demo (R-307).

Detective Blade said that, later on January 14, the officers interviewed the Appellant for a second time, re-advising him of his constitutional rights, and the Appellant gave a recorded statement. During the ensuing seven-hour period, the Appellant cooperated freely with the police by giving his statement and by offering to lead them to various crime-related sites. His statement given at the jail was recorded, but his comments made in cooperating with

the police at the crime sites were not recorded (R-308-309).

The Appellant also cooperated by consenting to a search of his residence and led officers to the house of a Mr. Ham, where they obtained a .22 cal. rifle which the Appellant had recently sold to Mr. Ham (R-381-382). The State marked for identification and introduced into evidence the tape of the Appellant's January 14, 1988, recorded statement (R-314-315).

Detective Blade testified that the officers obtained a shovel from the residence of Mr. Demo, pursuant to statements given by Mr. Demo and the Appellant that on the morning of the crime, Mr. Demo put a shovel into the Appellant's car (R-317-318, 329-330). Detective Blade told the court that he believed a shovel had been place in the Appellant's vehicle by Mr. Demo (R-330).

Based on a telephone tip, the officers located Raymond Pruden, a man with a record of drug use and mental problems (see Appendix B), who said he had information on the crime. On January 20, 1988, Detectives Arick and Blade interviewed Mr. Pruden (R-322). During the Shere trial, Detective Blade did not state nor did defense counsel ask if he knew about Raymond Pruden's mental health problems.

On cross-examination, Detective Blade stated that, yes, the Appellant was cooperative with the police. During his January 14th statement, given at the jail, the Appellant showed concern for the safety of his young and pregnant girlfriend, Heidi Greulich (R-329).

The next State witness was Detective Alan Arick of HCSO, who

began the investigation into the disappearance of Drew Snyder and the possibility of foul play (R-337-338). Detective Arick first met the Appellant on January 13, 1988 (R-339-340). At that time, the Appellant, who was neither under arrest nor under oath, spoke with Detectives Arick and Blade voluntarily but was not taped (R-340-341). The Appellant said that he had no knowledge of the disappearance of Mr. Snyder and had been with his girlfriend, Heidi Greulich, during the early hours of December 25, 1987. He told the officers that the back seat of his car was sold for junk (R-345-346). The officers then took the Appellant to the Hernando County jail, where they had his outstanding bond, on a subsequently dismissed charge, revoked.

Detective Arick testified that the Appellant gave a statement at the jail on January 14, 1988, after the officers had obtained a statement from Mr. Demo incriminating the Appellant. The Appellant told the officers that he had been thinking and had decided to talk (R-347-348).

The Appellant stated that, during the early morning hours of December 25, 1987, he had received a telephone call from Bruce Demo. The Appellant said that Mr. Demo was upset with Drew Snyder, the victim. Mr. Demo yelled over the telephone that the victim had "a big mouth," and that they "needed to get rid of him" (R-349). The Appellant said that Mr. Demo more or less made him come to the Demo house, even though the Appellant didn't want to go (R-349).

After identifying photographs of the Appellant's vehicle, Detective Arick continued to testify about the Shere statement.

Upon arriving at Mr. Demo's residence, the Appellant stated that Mr. Demo put a shovel in the trunk of the Appellant's car (R-351). After driving around for a while, they picked up the victim and went rabbit hunting in Ridge Manor Estates. When Mr. Demo said he wanted to drive, the Appellant obediently stopped the car. The Appellant exited the driver's side, placed the .22 cal. pump rifle on the car roof, and walked to the passenger side to urinate. While doing so, the Appellant saw Mr. Demo and the victim struggle for the rifle. A shot was fired striking the victim in the head (R-352). To avoid being shot, the Appellant dropped to the ground. He heard a series of shots and, as he stood up, saw Mr. Snyder laying in the back seat of the car. The victim was bleeding badly, and Mr. Demo was holding the gun (R-352-353).

The Appellant stated to the officers that he told Mr. Demo they had to take the victim to the hospital (R. 353, 421). The detective continued: "...Bruce [Demo] produced a .22 semiautomatic handgun and he [Demo] shot--he [Shere] said that Bruce [Demo] shot--Drew in the forehead with the handgun" (R-353, 421). With the victim still breathing, "... Bruce [Demo] then went over to Drew and put the handgun close to Drew's chest and shot one more time and shot Drew in the chest with the handgun" (R-354).

They loaded the victim into the trunk of the car, drove to a another location, and buried the body. The Appellant, when asked by the officers about the location, said he could take them to it (R-354). The Appellant's comments to the police at the various crime sites, which would have helped establish his willingness to

cooperate, were not taped (R-355). The State introduced a series of photographs of the areas where the Appellant took the officers (R-356-370).

The detective also testified that he asked the Appellant about the motive for killing Drew Snyder. The detective said the Appellant told him:

"...that during his phone conversation with Bruce Demo earlier that morning [12/25/87], Bruce had told him that Bruce and Drew were involved in the theft of some air conditioners at a place in Dade City, and that Bruce was afraid that Drew was going to tell the cops that he was involved with the theft of these air conditioners and he was upset about that. He also said that Bruce told Richard [the Appellant] that Drew had ratted out on him about something that Drew and Richard had done."

(R-371-372).

The State Attorney asked Detective Arick about the burial location, additional photographs, and a prepared video. The detective testified that the Appellant, in his statement, said he burned the back seat of his car. The Appellant cooperated by taking the officers to the shooting scene, as well as the burial scene (R-383). The State introduced more photographs into evidence (R-384-392).

Detective Arick then identified the tape of the Appellant's interview of January 14, 1988 (R-397). The tape, which was played for the court and jury, confirmed that Mr. Demo called the Appellant between 12:30 am and 1:00 am on December 25, 1987. It established that Mr. Demo was thinking of killing the victim (R-402), that the Appellant tried to "put Mr. Demo off" from killing the victim, and that the Appellant didn't want to get involved (R-

8

403). The Appellant stated:

And he [Demo] brought it, you know, up a couple times about, oh, why don't we go get him and stuff and then go take him out and stuff, and I told him no, I didn't want to, you know, and I'm just going back to bed. I said that about five or six times I wanted to, you know, just go back to bed and forget about it and stuff....And then he threatened to kill me a couple times saying that I better come over and pick him up, then you know, go over to Drew's house..."

(R-403-404).

The tape set forth that when Mr. Demo loaded his shovel into the Appellants's car (R-404), the Appellant began to suspect that perhaps Mr. Demo and the victim were planning to kill him, and he felt "a little bit of danger" (R-406-407).

The tape confirmed the testimony of Detective Arick that the Appellant set the rifle on the roof of the car. The gun went off. He heard the victim say, "Oh, my God, Brewster [Demo]." Mr. Demo fired the gun several more times (R-409-410). The victim was laying in the back seat still breathing. Mr. Demo pulled out a handgun and shot the victim in the forehead. The Appellant said, "Brewster, we got to get him to the hospital and stuff" (R-410).

Instead, Mr. Demo shot the victim in the back of the head. The Appellant again said they needed to get the victim to the hospital (R-410-411, 421). Mr. Demo was still handling the handgun when they buried the victim (R-413-418).

On the tape, the Appellant then repeated his version of the shooting of the victim by Mr. Demo (R-421-423). The Appellant stated that Mr. Demo threatened him if he told Heidi Greulich [Appellant's girlfriend]. The Appellant was also afraid for the

child Heidi was carrying (R-425-426).

The tape re-enforced the motive Mr. Demo had for killing the victim. Mr. Demo said he and the victim were stealing air conditioners and "other stuff." Mr. Demo said he was tired of the victim ripping him off and always besting him. Lastly, Mr. Demo suspected the victim was ratting on him (R-426-428). The Appellant stated that he saw Mr. Demo still with the pistol "sometime after the shooting" (R-436-437).

The playing of the Shere statement concluded Detective Arick's direct testimony as a State witness, and his cross-examination by defense counsel was very brief, negligently brief. The detective answered that, yes, the Appellant did break down and cry at times during the interview (R-449).

On re-direct examination, Detective Arick agreed that the Appellant's statement of January 14, 1988, was inconsistent with his denial during the short interview of January 13, 1988.

The next significant witness was Cheryl LaMay, M.D., Medical Examiner for the area. She testified that she performed the autopsy on Mr. Snyder, the victim. Of a total of ten (10) gunshot wounds on the victim, (R-553) four shots were possibly fatal--a shot to the forehead, a shot to the chest, a shot to the back of the head, and a shot to the back. Any one of the four could have been the "fatal shot" (R-555-568, 569-570). The forehead shot was made at close range (R-577); the chest shot was made at close range (R-578); the shot to the thigh was made at close range (R-581). It is possible that the last shot, to the chest, was the killing shot (R-587).

Ballistic evidence provided by FBI witnesses established that the shots to the head were fired from a pistol. The FBI agents, as technical witnesses, did not establish who actually shot the victim, but the pistol was Mr. Demo's.

The next significant witness was Darlene O'Donnell, niece of Regina Shaffer, Mr. Demo's live-in girlfriend. Ms. O'Donnell was visiting her aunt at the time of the murder, and her testimony supported the Appellant's statement. She testified that late on Christmas Eve, Mr. Demo called someone and then left the house about 30 to 45 minutes later with the Appellant (R-694-698). She said that Mr. Demo left carrying a pistol, as he always did (R-699-700). She was "almost positive" that Mr. Demo put a shovel into the Appellant's car(R-702).

The Appellant stated that Mr. Demo shot the victim with a pistol in the head and chest, and the coroner and the FBI witnesses said that the head and chest wounds were made by a pistol. The uncontested trial testimony was that Mr. Demo carried a pistol at all times and that he was the shooter of the victim. This trial certitude was to become confused and obfuscated, as the case progressed--even though the Florida Supreme Court found that the shots fired into the victim's head came from a pistol. Shere v. State, supra.

The last State witness was Raymond Pruden, who testified that the Appellant told him he killed the victim, shooting him as many as fifteen (15) times. Mr. Pruden claimed that the Appellant never mentioned Bruce Demo (R-739-740). Defense counsel chose not to

cross-examine Mr. Pruden--an error that could prove fatal for the Appellant (R-741).

ARGUMENT I

INEFFECTIVE REPRESENTATION BY COUNSEL AT TRIAL AND AT THE EVIDENTIARY HEARING DENIED THE APPELLANT HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS TO EFFECTIVE COUNSEL IN VIOLATION OF THE FOURTH, FIFTH, SIXTH, AND EIGHTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND IN VIOLATION OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

The Appellant was ill-served by his counsel at three crucial periods during his criminal justice experience--at his trial, during his appeal to the Florida Supreme Court, and at the R. 3.850 evidentiary hearing. Representation failing in material and specific aspects has denied the Appellant his federal and state constitutional rights, as this argument will substantiate based on the court record.

The Appellant recognizes that a party to any litigation, criminal or civil, is not guaranteed a perfect trial, but, in a capital case, representation must be as near perfect as humanly possible. A capital defendant on appeal can not expect representation to rise to an astronomical height, but representation must not fall so low as to undermine confidence in the jury's verdict and the judge's opinion.

In the Appellant's R. 3.850 Motion, of twenty-three (23) claims filed on his behalf, Claim VI, which addressed denial of effective counsel at the trial level, was segmented into three subclaims:

(A) Failure of counsel to allow the Appellant to testify in his own behalf during the guilt phase of the trial;

- (B) Failure of counsel to object to State's comment on the Appellant's right to remain silent; and
- (C) Introduction by counsel into evidence of hearsay statements by Mr. Demo, even though there was no joint trial of Mr. Demo and the Appellant.

The Appellant respectfully asks the FSC to consider his total legal representation. To determine the ineffectiveness of his counsel, he asks the FSC to consider the totality of the circumstances and to weigh his representation problems, not as isolated incidents but throughout the case. He contends that deficiencies of counsel were actual, substantial, and prejudicial, resulting in a verdict of guilt and a penalty of death. <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U. S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984). The Shere case bears many similarities to the landmark Florida case involving ineffective counsel criteria. The total circumstances for establishing the Appellant's claim of ineffective counsel representation involve a mixture of law and fact <u>King v.</u> <u>Strickland</u>, 714 F. 2d 1481 (11th Cir. 1983) and of commission and omission:

--The Appellant contends that the totality of conduct by counsel, at the trial and at the evidentiary hearing, was of such a magnitude as to deny him his constitutional rights.

--The Appellant contends that the totality of errors by counsel are of such a magnitude as to constitute deficiencies beyond the range of professional

performance.

--The Appellant contends that the totality of commissions of mistakes by counsel are of such a magnitude as to establish a belief by reasonable observers that an opposite result would have occurred had counsel acted differently.

--The Appellant contends that the totality of omissions by counsel are of such a magnitude that a sufficient probability exists that a different verdict would have been reached had counsel acted differently.

The pivotal error--permitting evidence of conflicting versions of the murder to be introduced at the trial and at the R. 3.850 hearing--constitutes ineffective representation by counsel. Had the Appellant's counsel at each stage of the proceedings <u>not</u> introduced conflicting or inconsistent testimony, the Appellant would not be on Death Row today. Without impugning the ethics or moral character of his counsel, the Appellant is compelled to appeal counsel errors of commission and omission that occurred throughout his case.

TRIAL COUNSEL ERROR

The Appellant addresses the following counsel errors as the most serious committed during the trial.

The Calling of Detective Arick as a Defense Witness

By calling Detective Alan Arick back as a defense witness at the trial, counsel committed material and substantial error. The Public Defender's decision was not consistent with the best interest of the Appellant. This error cannot be dismissed as mere strategic miscalculation, but has to be viewed as reversible error. Because Detective Arick had testified as the main State witness,

trial counsel had ample opportunity to establish statutory and nonstatutory mitigators and to verify who fired the fatal shot. With further cross-examination, counsel could have elicited the facts-that the Appellant did not want to go with the shooter, that he tried to dissuade the shooter, and that after the shooting he asked the shooter to take the victim to the hospital. Trial counsel thus had no reason for calling the detective back as a defense witness.

The State Attorney, for his own reasons, did not call Mr. Demo as a witness; but defense counsel, by calling back Detective Arick, gave the State Attorney the opportunity on cross-examination to draw from the detective those portions of Mr. Demo's statement that conflicted with the Appellant's statement. This error by counsel vitiated the Appellant's uncontested version of the circumstances of the killing.

It cannot be stated strongly enough that, <u>but for</u> the introduction of Mr. Demo's statement through Detective Arick's

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