IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

AUG 18 1998

RICHARD EARL SHERE, JR.,

Appellant,

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

8y

Chief Deputy Clerk

v.

CASE NO. 91,614

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR HERNANDO COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY Assistant Attorney General Fla. Bar #0998818 444 Seabreeze Blvd. 5th FL Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

(R2649-2652). Those findings are not clearly erroneous, are in accord with settled law, and should be affirmed in all respects.

On pages 17-20 of his brief, Shere argues that he is entitled to relief based upon "omissions of adversarial examination." However, the "omissions" in connection with this claim took place when Shere did not raise these claims in his Rule 3.850 motion. (R2471). Florida law is long-settled (and it is a basic premise of appellate practice) that claims cannot be raised for the first time

on appeal from the denial of a Rule 3.850 motion. Doyle v. State, 526 So.2d 909, 911 (Fla. 1988). The inclusion of these "claims" in Shere's appeal demonstrates clearly that nothing is easier than to be wise after the fact, and, when working with the benefit of time and a made record, "issues" can always be "identified." Waters v. Thomas, 46 F.3d 1506, 1517 (11th Cir. 1995). Of course, a defendant is not entitled to a "perfect" trial, and the standard used in evaluating a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is not what the best lawyer would have done, or even what a good lawyer would have done. Waters, supra. Likewise, the standard is not how present counsel would have tried the case, even though Shere's brief leaves no doubt that his present attorney disagrees with trial counsel's approach to this case. Card v. Dugger, 911 F.2d 1494, 1520 (11th Cir. 1990). Shere has not demonstrated that counsel's performance was deficient, and, moreover, has not demonstrated that he was prejudiced by counsel's actions. Because that is so, he has failed to carry his burden of proof. The Circuit Court's denial of relief is correct, and should be affirmed.

On pages 20-24 of his brief, Shere alleges, for the first time, that trial counsel "failed to act as an advocate." This claim was not raised in the Rule 3.850 motion, and cannot be raised for the first time on appeal from the denial of relief. Doyle, supra. To the extent that Shere suggests, on page 24 of his brief, "that the State's case does not support the conviction of anyone of any

crime using the beyond a reasonable doubt criteria," that argument ignores the direct appeal opinion of this Court which found the evidence sufficient to support the conviction. Shere, supra, at 95. Likewise, Shere's claim of trial counsel's "failure to focus on uncontroverted testimony and evidence" is raised for the first time on appeal. Because that is true, this claim is improperly raised. Doyle, supra. In any event, the most that claim demonstrates is that present counsel would have tried the case differently. That is not the proper standard, and, in actuality, is the height of second-guessing of the very sort prohibited by Strickland v. Washington, supra. This claim does not present a basis for reversal.

On pages 33-35 of his brief, Shere sets out a "summary of facts." The utility of that portion of his brief is unclear, and its purpose is not apparent. To the extent that the "summary" is sufficient to present any issues, such issues are not a basis for relief for the reasons set out above.

On pages 35-40 of his brief, Shere sets out a "summary of law," the purpose of which is, again, unclear. To the extent that that portion of the brief argues for a "presumption of prejudice" based upon an "actual or constructive denial of counsel" (i.e., a Cronic violation), that claim is raised for the first time in this

⁷This "summary" is clearly not intended to be the "Summary of the Argument" required by the Appellate Rules because it does not address all issues raised in the brief.

appeal and may not be considered. *Doyle*, *supra*. Further, Shere has established no facts that even suggest an actual or constructive denial of counsel of the character necessary to establish a right to relief under the narrow *Cronic* criteria. This "issue," if that is what it is intended to be, is meritless.

II. THE "POISONED WELL OF JUDICIAL OBJECTIVITY" CLAIM

On pages 40-56 of his brief, Shere "takes issue with the opinions of the trial court and the evidentiary hearing court, one and the same person, regarding the Appellant's conduct and credibility." *Initial Brief* at 41. The precise nature of the "poisoning" claim is unclear, and the basis for relief contained within that claim is unidentified. However, regardless of those facts, it is clear that there is no reversible error contained in Claim II of Shere's brief.

Shere's claim is apparently based upon the credibility determinations made by the Circuit Court with regard to Shere's testimony. However, there is no support for the concept that an adverse credibility determination establishes "judicial bias," nor is there any basis for Shere's complaint based upon assignment of the Rule 3.850 proceeding to the original trial judge. Despite the histrionics of Shere's brief, the Circuit Court was entitled (and required) to make various credibility determinations in the course

of deciding the Rule 3.850 motion⁸. The fact that those decisions were adverse to Shere does not prove anything.⁹ If the law were as Shere suggests, no case could ever be concluded adversely to any defendant because such a result would demonstrate "judicial bias." That is not the law because it is absurd. To the extent that Shere argues, on page 43 of his brief, that ineffective assistance of counsel "contributed to a poisoning of the court's thinking," that claim, to the extent that it can be considered a "claim," was not raised below, and cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. Doyle, supra.

On pages 43-44 of his brief, Shere argues that it was error to call Heidi Gruelich as a court witness, and that, because this is a death penalty case, "no error is harmless." The court-witness component of this claim was raised on direct appeal and decided adversely to the defendant's position. Shere, supra, at 90-94. Claims that were raised and decided on direct appeal may not be relitigated in a Rule 3.850 motion, and, moreover, claims may not

⁸The situation about which Shere complains is no different than the situation that exists when the trial judge is required to make a pre-trial ruling on a defendant's motion to suppress. By its very nature, such a ruling requires the trial court to determine the defendant's credibility. An adverse ruling (which includes an adverse credibility determination) is not grounds for recusal, nor does it call the impartiality of the court into question.

⁹Of course, adverse rulings do not provide a legally sufficient basis for disqualification of a judge. *Barwick v. State*, 660 So.2d 685, 692 (Fla. 1995); *Jackson v. State*, 599 So.2d 103, 107 (Fla. 1992); *Gilliam v. State*, 582 So.2d 610, 611 (Fla. 1991); *Tafero v. State*, 403 So.2d 355, 361 (Fla. 1981).

be raised for the first time on appeal from the denial of a Rule 3.850 motion¹⁰. Doyle, supra. This "claim" suffers from both deficiencies, and, therefore, does not provide a basis for relief. Moreover, to the extent that Shere argues that "no error is harmless" in a death case, that argument is frivolous. The cases to the contrary are far too numerous to mention. See, e.g., Hitchcock v. Dugger, 481 U.S. 393, 399 (1987); Bottoson v. State, 674 So.2d 621 (Fla. 1996); Horsely v. Alabama, 45 F.3d 1486 (11th Cir. 1995). To the extent that Shere attempts to litigate the sufficiency of this Court's harmless error analysis, that claim was not raised in the Circuit Court and cannot be raised for the first time in this appeal. Doyle, supra.

On pages 44-50 of his brief, Shere argues that the Rule 3.850 trial court "confused the facts." In fact, the factual findings of that court are based upon the credible evidence contained in the record of the Rule 3.850 hearing, and, to the extent that some of that evidence is conflicting, the court's resolution of that conflict cannot be clearly erroneous. Shere's argument, at its most fundamental level, is that the trial court was wrong because it did not believe Shere's version of the facts and the slant that he has placed on the evidence. When all of the evidence is considered

¹⁰Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 is clear in its prohibition on relitigation of previously-decided claims. Likewise, this Court's prior decisions leave no doubt about the validity of this procedural bar. See, Clark v. State, 460 So.2d 886, 888 (Fla. 1984).

(rather than limiting the evidence to that which suits Shere's purpose), the trial court's order is well-supported by competent, substantial evidence, and should be affirmed in all respects. 11

On pages 50-55 of his brief, Shere argues that "credible trial evidence contradicts most of the court rulings on aggravators and mitigators." Insofar as the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravator is concerned, this Court upheld its application in this case on direct appeal. Shere, 579 So.2d at 95. Under settled law, Shere cannot relitigate that claim for a second time in his Rule 3.850 motion. See, Jones v. Dugger, 533 So.2d 290, 292 (Fla. 1990). If Shere's claim is that the 3.850 trial court should not have referred to the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravator in the order denying Rule 3.850 relief, that argument is absurd because that aggravator was upheld on appeal. If Shere's claim is that the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravator does not apply to this case, that claim is procedurally barred for the additional reason that it was not contained in the Rule 3.850 motion. Doyle, supra.

To the extent that Shere challenges the jury instructions given on the aggravators, the Rule 3.850 court correctly found those claims procedurally barred because those claims could have

¹¹On page 50 of his brief, Shere argues that "Socher [sic] v. Florida [citation omitted] and Maynard v. Cartwright [citation omitted] are applicable to the Shere case." Neither of those cases address the "issue" for which they are cited, and Shere's reference to those cases makes no sense.

been but were not raised at trial or on direct appeal. (R2653-2655). That is a settled procedural bar under Florida law. Jackson v. State, 648 So.2d 85, 90 (Fla. 1994). To the extent that Shere attempts to raise a "procedural due process" claim on page 51 of his brief, that claim was not raised in the trial court, and cannot be raised for the first time on appeal from the denial of Rule 3.850 relief. Doyle, supra. In any event, even if that "claim" was cognizable, it would not avoid the preclusive effect of the clear procedural bar.

On page 52 of his brief, Shere argues that "[i]n addition to the CCP aggravator, the EH Court found that the Appellant had no pretense of moral or legal justification, despite credible evidence establishing that he was not the shooter." If that argument is that the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravator should not apply in this case, that claim was rejected on direct appeal, Shere, supra — it is wholly improper to attempt to relitigate those claims in a Rule 3.850 motion. Finally, if the argument is that the absence of any pretense of justification for the murder is a fact that exists separate and apart from the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravator, that argument makes no sense. The lack of any pretense of moral or legal justification is a component part of the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravator, and its existence was affirmed by this Court on direct appeal. Shere, supra.

On pages 52-53 of his brief, Shere appears to argue that the "hindering law enforcement" aggravator does not exist. In his Rule 3.850 motion, Shere raised a claim concerning the jury instruction given as to this aggravator, but did not challenge the finding of the aggravator itself. Because the claim contained in Shere's brief was not raised in the Circuit Court, it cannot be raised for the first time on appeal from the denial of relief. Doyle, supra. If Shere's claim is that the aggravator does not apply, this Court found to the contrary on direct appeal, when it held, in the context of ruling on the jury instruction claim, that this aggravator was supported by the evidence. Shere, supra, at 95.

To the extent that Shere argues that his "lack of an adult criminal record" was not properly considered in mitigation, the sentencing order (which is attached to Shere's initial brief as "Appendix C") shows that Shere was on pretrial release pending trial on Burglary and Robbery charges, and, by his own admission, was selling illegal drugs at the time of the murder. (R1456). The trial court properly refused to find the "no significant criminal history" mitigator. In any event, this claim is barred because it could have been but was not raised on direct appeal. To the extent that this sub-claim raises any other claims, such claims are raised for the first time in this appeal, and are not available to Shere

¹²The Rule 3.850 trial court properly found the jury instruction claim procedurally barred. (R2655).

under long-settled law. Doyle, supra.

On pages 55-56 of his brief, Shere argues that there can be no procedural bar to consideration of any claim in a case in which a death sentence has been imposed. That claim, which is itself procedurally barred because it is raised for the first time in this appeal, is frivolous. This Court, and the federal courts, have repeatedly imposed and upheld procedural bars to consideration of untimely claims. See generally, Wainwright v. Sykes, 433 U.S. 72 (1977). While Shere employs various constitutional "buzzwords" in his argument, the fact that he cannot escape is that no constitutional issue is implicated by the procedural bar rule. This argument is undeserving of further comment. It does not establish a basis for relief.

III. THE UNCONSTITUTIONAL STATUTE CLAIM

On pages 57-63 of his brief, Shere argues that the Florida death penalty act is unconstitutional "in his case, . . . , based upon the credible and material factual evidence presented throughout the judicial proceedings." This, according to Shere, is because "aggravators were improperly applied to" him. This argument is foreclosed by a double layer of procedural bars.

The first procedural bar that applies to this claim is that the application of the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravator to this case was litigated on direct appeal and decided adversely to Shere. Shere, supra, at 95. This court upheld that

aggravator, and the argument contained in Shere's brief is nothing more that his continuing quarrel with this Court's decision. Insofar as the "hindering law enforcement" aggravator is implicated, that claim was not raised on direct appeal, even though Shere did challenge the jury instruction given on that aggravator. The claim contained in Shere's brief, however, was never raised on direct appeal, and, therefore, is subject to a procedural bar. 13

The second procedural bar to consideration of this claim is that the claim contained in Shere's brief is raised for the first time on appeal from the denial of Rule 3.850 relief. Under settled law, that is improper. *Doyle*, *supra*.

To the extent that Shere raises a claim concerning the Florida electric chair, that claim is procedurally barred because it could have been but was not raised at trial, on direct appeal, or in Shere's Rule 3.850 motion. That is a triple layer of procedural bars that precludes litigation of this claim. Alternatively and secondarily, this claim is controlled by *Jones v. State*, 701 So.2d 76 (Fla. 1997), and is without merit.

To the extent that Shere raises a claim that his death sentence is disproportionate, that claim is procedurally barred

¹³Shere argues that he was an "accessory ... by his own words." Initial Brief at 58. That Shere stated such is not a surprise -- it is in his best interest to be an "accessory." However, Shere's self-serving testimony is not dispositive of the degree of his culpability. This Court determined, on direct appeal, that death was the proper punishment in this case.

because it could have been but was not raised on direct appeal or in the Rule 3.850 motion. To the extent that Shere argues that he is entitled to relief based upon "cumulative error," he does not deign to identify the purported errors for this Court. However, because no claim raised in this proceeding (whether properly preserved or not) is a basis for relief, there is no "error" to "cumulate" and, therefore, no basis for relief. The trial court should be affirmed in all respects.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing arguments and authorities, the 3.850 trial court's denial of relief should be affirmed in all respects.